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DECISION


Bruce Greenwald’s pharmacist license is subject to discipline by the Missouri Board of Pharmacy (Board) under § 338.055.2(5), (13) and (15) for filling prescriptions without authorization, falsifying records, and committing substantial record-keeping violations.

Procedure


On April 16, 2002, the Board filed a complaint alleging that Greenwald’s license is subject to discipline and filed a request for an expedited hearing.  


On April 3, 2003, we held the hearing.  Assistant Attorney General Daryl R. Hylton represented the Board.  Greenwald represented himself.  The matter became ready for our decision on May 30, 2003, the date the last brief was due.

Findings of Fact

1. Greenwald was licensed as a pharmacist, and his license was current and active for the period January 2001 through March 2002.  It expired on October 31, 2002.

2. Greenwald owned the Medicine Shoppe Pharmacy (pharmacy), where he was the pharmacist-in-charge and primary pharmacist.

3. In February 2002, Jerome Gershman, the Board’s inspector, conducted an investigation at the pharmacy.

Count I – Patient A

4. The pharmacy had been dispensing Hydrocodone to Patient A since March 1997.  During the February 2002 investigation, Greenwald gave Gershman a patient profile for Patient A, which showed prescriptions filled until September 7, 2001.

5. Between March 9, 2001, and September 7, 2001, the pharmacy dispensed 4,924 Hydrocodone 10/APAP (with Acetaminophen) tablets to Patient A.  The patient profile states that the prescriptions were from Lance Gerowin, M.D.

6. In the course of the investigation, the pharmacy produced ten prescription forms for the Hydrocodone, signed by Greenwald as the dispensing pharmacist.

7. The prescriptions were not written on Gerowin’s prescription pads, but on a blank prescription pad with a computer label generated by the pharmacy.  This could mean that it was a refill of an original prescription or a prescription that was phoned in.  There is nothing inherently wrong with this type of prescription; it means that the patient did not hand the prescription to the pharmacist.

8. The prescription forms indicated that the prescriptions were authorized by Gerowin, at a dosage of two tablets every eight hours.

9. Between September 14, 2001, and January 4, 2002, the pharmacy dispensed 2,856 Hydrocodone 10/APAP tablets to Patient A.  These dispersals did not appear on Patient A’s patient profile that was provided to the Board’s investigator, and the Pharmacy’s records did not contain prescription forms for them at the time of the investigation.

10. The daily audit sheet, printed on January 4, 2002, shows that the pharmacy gave credits to Patient A for many prescriptions that were originally filled from September 14, 2001, through January 4, 2002.  Then the entries were “backed out of the computer.”
  The entries were removed from the computer records so they did not appear on Patient A’s patient profile, but they did appear on the daily audit sheets.

11. The daily audit sheets list Greenwald as the dispensing pharmacist; 28 of the audit sheets were signed by Greenwald, and three were not signed.  The audit sheets show that the prescriptions were authorized by Gerowin at a dosage of two tablets every eight hours.

12. Patient A had begun seeing Dr. Gerowin in July of 1996.  Gerowin had prescribed Hydrocodone to Patient A for back pain until February 22, 2001.  The February 22, 2001, prescription for Hydrocodone would have allowed Patient A one refill, which he could have refilled on March 1, 2001.  Gerowin did not prescribe any Hydrocodone for Patient A after March 1, 2001.

13. After the February 22, 2001, visit, Patient A stopped going to Gerowin for his pain medication.  He told Gerowin that he was seeing another doctor.

Count II – Audit

14. As part of his investigation, Gershman performed an audit to check for the control and disposition of controlled substances.

15. The audit revealed shortages and overages including the following:  Hydrocodone 5/500 was short 6,044 dosage units (56% shortage); Hydrocodone 10/500 was short 13,874 dosage units (65% shortage); Valium was over 59 dosage units (39% overage); Alprazolam 2 mg was over 1,600 dosage units (43% overage); and Acetaminophen with Codeine was short 25,000 dosage units (81% shortage).

Count III – Personal Prescriptions

16. On February 26, 2002, the Board’s investigator asked Greenwald to provide a urine sample and asked him to list the medications he was taking.

17. Greenwald listed Atenolol (high blood pressure), Allopurinol (gout), and B vitamins.  These drugs are not controlled substances.  Greenwald did not provide a urine sample on that date.

18. That evening, Greenwald visited Z.A. Dalu, M.D.  Dalu had written prescriptions for Greenwald in the past as follows:  (1) on January 24, 2002, 30 tablets of Xanax , 2 mg to be taken three times a day for anxiety neurosis; (2) on February 8, 2002, 12 tablets of Valium, 5 mg to be taken twice a day for acute lumbar sprain and anxiety; and (3) on February 16, 2002, 24 tablets of Vicodin ES to be taken as needed for toothache pain.

19. On February 26, 2002, Greenwald told Dalu that he had refilled all three of these and asked him to write new prescriptions to cover the refilling.  Dalu refused to do so.  There was no authorization for Greenwald to refill the prescriptions for himself.

20. On February 27, 2002, Gershman returned to the pharmacy.  Greenwald produced three prescription vials and copies of three prescriptions for Diazepam, Alprazolam and Hydrocodone, generic versions of the medication he had been prescribed.  The prescriptions were labeled for patient Bruce Greenwood from Dr. Dalu, and dated February 26, 2002.  Gershman asked for the originals of the prescription forms, but Greenwood did not provide them.

21. Gershman found two hard copy original prescriptions that corresponded with the numbers on the labels, but they were for different drugs and were not for Greenwood. 

22. By letter dated March 2, 2002, Greenwood informed the Board that he had verbal permission to have his prescriptions refilled.

Conclusions of Law 


We have jurisdiction to hear the Board’s complaint.  Section 621.045.
  The Board has the burden of proving that Greenwald has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.  Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).


The Board argues that there is cause to discipline Greenwald’s license under § 338.055, RSMo Supp. 2002,
 which provides:


2.  The board may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission as provided by chapter 621, RSMo, against any holder of any certificate of registration or authority, permit or license required by this chapter or any person who has failed to renew or has surrendered his certificate of registration or authority, permit or license for any one or any combination of the following causes:

*   *   *


(5) Incompetency, misconduct, gross negligence, fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty in the performance of the functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated by this chapter;

*   *   *


(13) Violation of any professional trust or confidence;

*   *   *


(15) Violation of the drug laws or rules and regulations of this state, any other state or the federal government[.]


Incompetence is a general lack of, or a lack of disposition to use, a professional ability.  Forbes v. Missouri Real Estate Comm’n, 798 S.W.2d 227, 230 (Mo. App., W.D. 1990).  Misconduct is defined as “the willful doing of an act with a wrongful intention[;] intentional 

wrongdoing.”  Missouri Bd. for Arch’ts, Prof’l Eng’rs & Land Surv’rs v. Duncan, No. AR-84-0239 Mo. Admin. Hearing Comm’n Nov. 15, 1985) at 125, aff’d, 744 S.W.2d 524 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988).  Gross negligence is a deviation from professional standards so egregious that it demonstrates a conscious indifference to a professional duty.  Duncan v. Missouri Bd. for Arch’ts, Prof’l Eng’rs & Land Surv’rs, 744 S.W.2d at 533.  The mental state can be inferred from all the surrounding circumstances.  Id.


Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another, in reliance on it, to part with some valuable thing belonging to him.  State ex rel. Williams v. Purl, 128 S.W. 196, 201 (Mo. 1910).  It necessarily includes dishonesty, which is a lack of integrity or a disposition to defraud or deceive.  Merriam-Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary 333 (10th ed. 1993).  Misrepresentation is falsehood or untruth made with the intent and purpose of deceit.  Merriam-Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary 744 (10th ed. 1993).

Professional trust is reliance on the special knowledge and skills that professional licensure evidences.  Trieseler v. Helmbacher, 168 S.W.2d 1030, 1036 (Mo. 1943).

Count I – Patient A


The Board alleges that there is cause to discipline Greenwald’s license for dispensing large quantities of Hydrocodone to Patient A without a valid prescription and for keeping records that were intentionally falsified.  The Board states that this conduct is cause for discipline under subdivision (5).


We find that the Board has met its burden of proving that Greenwald dispensed the drug without a valid prescription and intentionally falsified the prescriptions and other pharmacy records in order to obtain the Hydrocodone and cover his actions.  We find that this conduct constitutes incompetency, misconduct, fraud, misrepresentation and dishonesty in the 

performance of the duties of a pharmacist.  Because we have found that Greenwald’s acts were intentional, and intent and indifference are mutually exclusive, we do not find cause for discipline for gross negligence.


We also find that Greenwald violated a professional trust; thus, there is cause to discipline Greenwald’s license under subdivision (13).


The Board states that there is cause to discipline Greenwald’s license under subdivision (15) because Greenwald’s conduct violated the following drug laws:


21 USC § 827(a)(3), which provides:

(a) Inventory

Except as provided in subsection (c) of this section –

*   *   *

(3) on and after May 1, 1971, every registrant under this subchapter manufacturing, distributing, or dispensing a controlled substance or substances shall maintain, on a current basis, a complete and accurate record of each such substance manufactured, received, sold, delivered, or otherwise disposed of by him, except that this paragraph shall not require the maintenance of a perpetual inventory.


Section 195.050.6,
 which provides:

6.  Every person registered to manufacture, distribute or dispense controlled substances under sections 195.005 to 195.425 shall keep records and inventories of all such drugs in conformance with the record keeping and inventory requirements of federal law, and in accordance with any additional regulations of the department of health.


Section 195.060.1, which provides:

1. Except as provided in subsection 3 of this section, a pharmacist, in good faith, may sell and dispense controlled 

substances to any person only upon a prescription of a practitioner as authorized by statute, provided that the controlled substances listed in Schedule V may be sold without prescription in accordance with regulations of the department of health.

Section 195.204.1, which provides:

1.  A person commits the offense of fraudulently attempting to obtain a controlled substance if he obtains or attempts to obtain a controlled substance or procures or attempts to procure the administration of the controlled substance by fraud, deceit, misrepresentation, or subterfuge . . . .


Greenwald did not maintain accurate records.  In fact, he falsified the pharmacy’s records, showing that there was physician authorization for medication when there was not in order to obtain the drugs.  He removed records to cover his actions.  We find that he violated the state and federal drug laws cited above and that his license is subject to discipline under subdivision (15).


We find that Greenwald’s license is subject to discipline under § 338.055.2(5), (13), and (15) for the conduct we have found in Count I.

Count II – Audit


The Board alleges that there is cause to discipline Greenwald’s license because the Board’s audit revealed many shortages and overages in the amount of controlled substance medications.  We agree that record-keeping of controlled substances is a vital function of a pharmacist and that the substantial record-keeping violations constitute incompetence and gross negligence, violation of professional trust, and violation of the drug laws.


We find that Greenwald’s license is subject to discipline under § 338.055.2(5), (13), and (15) for the conduct we have found in Count II.

Count III – Personal Prescriptions


The Board alleges that there is cause to discipline Greenwald’s license for refilling his own prescriptions without authorization, and for falsely recording and stating that his doctor had authorized the refill.  We find that this conduct constitutes misconduct, fraud, misrepresentation, and dishonesty in the performance of the duties of a pharmacist.  Incompetence is a general lack of, or a lack of disposition to use, a professional ability.  Even though this allegation involves only one type of conduct, we find that refilling three prescriptions without authorization, lying about it, and forging the records shows a lack of disposition to use a professional ability. Therefore, we find his conduct to constitute incompetency.  Because we have found that Greenwald’s acts were intentional, and intent and indifference are mutually exclusive, we do not find cause for discipline for gross negligence.


We agree that Greenwald’s conduct in filling prescriptions without authorization and falsifying the records constitute incompetence, misconduct, fraud, misrepresentation and dishonesty.  The conduct evidences a violation of professional trust, and is a violation of 

§ 195.204.


We find that Greenwald’s license is subject to discipline under § 338.055.2(5), (13), and (15) for the conduct we have found in Count III.

Summary


Greenwald’s license is subject to discipline under § 338.055.2(5), (13) and (15).


SO ORDERED on June 30, 2003.



________________________________



CHRISTOPHER GRAHAM



Commissioner

	�Tr. at 19.


	�Statutory references, unless otherwise noted, are to the 2000 Revised Statutes of Missouri.





	�The grounds for discipline as cited have not changed since the dates that the conduct occurred.


	�The Board’s complaint cites §§ 195.050.6 and 195.060.1, RSMo Supp 2001.  These statutes have not been changed since the 2000 Revised Statutes, and do not appear in the 2002 Supplement.  The text quoted is from older law (the last time we find reference to an apothecary in § 195.060 is 1994).  However, the substance of the versions is similar enough that we do not find a notice problem.
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